A Discourse Analysis of President Barack Obama's Speeches Following Mass Shootings, Terrorist Attacks and Natural Disasters in the United States

Hana Páralová

Bachelor's thesis 2017



Univerzita Tomáše Bati ve Zlíně

Fakulta humanitních studií

Ústav moderních jazγků a literatur akademický rok: 2016/2017

ZADÁNÍ BAKALÁŘSKÉ PRÁCE

(PROJEKTU, UMĚLECKÉHO DÍLA, UMĚLECKÉHO VÝKONU)

Jméno a příjmení: Hana Páralová

Osobní číslo:

H14801

Studijní program:

B7310 Filologie

Studijní obor:

Anglický jazyk pro manažerskou praxi

Forma studia:

prezenční

Téma práce:

Diskurzivní analýza prezidentských projevů Baracka Obamy

k masovým střelbám, teroristickým útokům a přírodním

katastrofám v USA

Zásady pro vypracování:

Shromáždění odborných zdrojů k diskurzivní analýze Vytvoření korpusu prezidentských projevů k analyzovaným tragédiím Formulace cílů práce a specifikace analýzy Analýza projevů podle specifikovaných kritérií Shrnutí a formulace závěrů práce

Rozsah bakalářské práce:

Rozsah příloh:

Forma zpracování bakalářské práce: tištěná/elektronická

Seznam odborné literatury:

Berlin, Lawrence N., and Anita Fetzer. 2012. Dialogue in Politics. Amsterdam: John Benjamins.

Cap, Piotr, and Urszula Okulska. 2013. Analyzing Genres in Political Communication: Theory and Practice. Amsterdam: John Benjamins.

Gee, James Paul, and Michael Handford. 2012. The Routledge Handbook of Discourse Analysis. London: Routledge.

Charteris-Black, Jonathan. 2011. Politicians and Rhetoric: The Persuasive Power of Metaphor. London: Palgrave Macmillan.

Paltridge, Brian. 2012. Discourse Analysis: An Introduction. London: Bloomsbury.

Vedoucí bakalářské práce:

Mgr. Lenka Drábková, Ph.D.

Ústav moderních jazyků a literatur

Datum zadání bakalářské práce:

11. listopadu 2016

Termín odevzdání bakalářské práce:

5. května 2017

Ve Zlíně dne 9. prosince 2016

doc. Ing. Anežka Lengálová, Ph.D.

děkanka

PhDr. Katarína Nemčoková, Ph.D.

ředitelka ústavu

PROHLÁŠENÍ AUTORA BAKALÁŘSKÉ PRÁCE

Beru na vědomí, že

- odevzdáním bakalářské práce souhlasím se zveřejněním své práce podle zákona č.
 111/1998 Sb. o vysokých školách a o změně a doplnění dalších zákonů (zákon o
 vysokých školách), ve znění pozdějších právních předpisů, bez ohledu na výsledek
 obhajoby ¹⁾;
- beru na vědomí, že bakalářská práce bude uložena v elektronické podobě v univerzitním informačním systému dostupná k nahlédnutí;
- na moji bakalářskou práci se plně vztahuje zákon č. 121/2000 Sb. o právu autorském, o právech souvisejících s právem autorským a o změně některých zákonů (autorský zákon) ve znění pozdějších právních předpisů, zejm. § 35 odst. 3²⁾;
- podle § 60³⁾ odst. 1 autorského zákona má UTB ve Zlíně právo na uzavření licenční smlouvy o užití školního díla v rozsahu § 12 odst. 4 autorského zákona;
- podle § 60 ³⁾ odst. 2 a 3 mohu užít své dílo bakalářskou práci nebo poskytnout licenci k jejímu využití jen s předchozím písemným souhlasem Univerzity Tomáše Bati ve Zlíně, která je oprávněna v takovém případě ode mne požadovat přiměřený příspěvek na úhradu nákladů, které byly Univerzitou Tomáše Bati ve Zlíně na vytvoření díla vynaloženy (až do jejich skutečné výše);
- pokud bylo k vypracování bakalářské práce využito softwaru poskytnutého Univerzitou Tomáše Bati ve Zlíně nebo jinými subjekty pouze ke studijním a výzkumným účelům (tj. k nekomerčnímu využití), nelze výsledky bakalářské práce využít ke komerčním účelům.

Prohlašuji, že

- elektronická a tištěná verze bakalářské práce jsou totožné;
- na bakalářské práci jsem pracoval samostatně a použitou literaturu jsem citoval.
 V případě publikace výsledků budu uveden jako spoluautor.

Ve Zlíně 2.5.2017	Paralora
V C Zime	

¹⁾ zákon č. 111/1998 Sb. o vysokých školách a o změně a doplnění dalších zákonů (zákon o vysokých školách), ve znění pozdějších právních předpisů, § 47b Zveřejňování závěrečných prací:

⁽¹⁾ Vysoká škola nevýdělečně zveřejňuje disertační, diplomové, bakalářské a rigorózní práce, u kterých proběhla obhajoba, včetně posudků oponentů a výsledku obhajoby prostřednictvím databáze kvalifikačních prací, kterou spravuje. Způsob zveřejnění stanoví vnitřní předpis vysoké školy.

- (2) Disertační, diplomové, bakalářské a rigorózní práce odevzdané uchazečem k obhajobě musí být též nejméně pět pracovních dnů před konáním obhajoby zveřejněny k nahlížení veřejnosti v místě určeném vnitřním předpisem vysoké školy nebo není-li tak určeno, v místě pracoviště vysoké školy, kde se má konat obhajoba práce. Každý si může ze zveřejněné práce pořízovat na své náklady výpisy, opisy nebo rozmnoženiny.
- (3) Platí, že odevzdáním práce autor souhlasí se zveřejněním své práce podle tohoto zákona, bez ohledu na výsledek obhajoby.
- 2) zákon č. 121/2000 Sb. o právu autorském, o právech souvisejících s právem autorským a o změně některých zákonů (autorský zákon) ve znění pozdějších právních předpisů, § 35 odst. 3:
- (3) Do práva autorského také nezasahuje škola nebo školské či vzdělávací zařízení, užije-li nikoli za účelem přímého nebo nepřímého hospodářského nebo obchodního prospěchu k výuce nebo k vlastní potřebě dílo vytvořené žákem nebo studentem ke splnění školních nebo studijních povinností vyplývajících z jeho právního vztahu ke škole nebo školskému či vzdělávacího zařízení (školní dílo).
- 3) zákon č. 121/2000 Sb. o právu autorském, o právech souvisejících s právem autorským a o změně některých zákonů (autorský zákon) ve znění pozdějších právních předpisů, § 60 Školní dílo:
- (1) Škola nebo školské či vzdělávací zařízení mají za obvyklých podmínek právo na uzavření licenční smlouvy o užití školního díla (§ 35 odst.
- 3). Odpírá-li autor takového díla udělit svolení bez vážného důvodu, mohou se tyto osoby domáhat nahrazení chybějícího projevu jeho vůle u soudu. Ustanovení § 35 odst. 3 zůstává nedotčeno.
- (2) Není-li sjednáno jinak, může autor školního díla své dílo užít či poskytnout jinému licenci, není-li to v rozporu s oprávněnými zájmy školy nebo školského či vzdělávacího zařízení.
- (3) Škola nebo školské či vzdělávací zařízení jsou oprávněny požadovat, aby jim autor školního díla z výdělku jím dosaženého v souvislosti s užitím díla či poskytnutím licence podle odstavce 2 přiměřeně přispěl na úhradu nákladů, které na vytvoření díla vynaložily, a to podle okolností až do jejich skutečné výše; přitom se přihlédne k výši výdělku dosaženého školou nebo školským či vzdělávacím zařízením z užití školního díla podle odstavce 1.

ABSTRAKT

Hlavním cílem této práce je provést diskurzivní analýzu prezidentských projevů Baracka Obamy vztahující se k masovým střelbám, teroristickým útokům a přírodním katastrofám ve Spojených státech amerických. Tato práce zkoumá rétorické prostředky, které používal k získání, uklidnění a ovlivnění publika a také strukturu jeho proslovů. Teoretická část charakterizuje diskurz, jeho význam, druhy a použití. Dále popisuje jazyk v politické sféře a vybrané rétorické prostředky, které se v Obamových proslovech objevují nejvíce. Praktická část analyzuje samotnou strukturu proslovů a podává konkrétní příklady vybraných rétorických prostředků a objasňuje důvod jejich použití.

Klíčová slova: diskurzivní analýza, politické projevy, Barack Obama, rétorika, rétorické prostředky, tragédie, Spojené státy americké

ABSTRACT

The main objective of this work is to perform a discourse analysis of Barack Obama's presidential speeches related to mass shootings, terrorist attacks and natural disasters in the United States. This work examines the rhetorical devices used to acquire, calm down and influence the audience, as well as the structure of his speeches. The theoretical part provides characteristics of discourse, its meaning, its types and uses. It further describes language in the political sphere and selected rhetorical devices that most frequently appear in Obama's speeches. The practical part analyzes the structure of the speeches and gives concrete examples of the selected rhetorical devices and explains the reason for their use.

Keywords: discourse analysis, political speeches, Barack Obama, rhetoric, rhetorical devices, tragedies, United States

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my supervisor Mgr. Lenka Drábková, Ph.D. for directing me while creating this work, as well as for her kindness, advice and suggestions for improvements. I would also like to thank my parents who enabled me studying and last, but not least, to my roommates, who not only supported me my whole studies but also made me smile when I needed it.

CONTENTS	
INTRODUCTION	10
I. THEORY	11
1 DEFINING DISCOURSE	12
1.1 SPOKEN AND WRITTEN DISCOURSE	13
1.2 DISCOURSE ANALYSIS	15
1.2.1THE SCOPE OF STUDY OF DISCOURSE ANALYSIS	17
1.2.2Critical Discourse Analysis	17
2 LANGUAGE AND POLITICS	19
2.1 POLITICAL DISCOURSE	
2.2 RHETORIC	20
2.2.1ETHOS, LOGOS AND PATHOS	21
2.3 STRUCTURE OF POLITICAL SPEECHES	23
2.3.1 President Obama as a Speaker	24
3 RHETORICAL STRATEGIES IN POLITICAL SPEECHES	26
3.1 METAPHOR	26
3.2 METONYMY	28
3.3 PRONOUNS	28
3.4 THREE-PART LIST	29
3.5 PARALLELISM	30
3.6 CONTRASTIVE PAIRS	31
II. ANALYSIS	32
4 METHODOLOGY	33
4.1 CORPUS OF POLITICAL SPEECHES	33
5 ANALYSIS OF THE SPEECHES AFTER TRAGEDIES	35
5.1 STRUCTURE OF OBAMA'S SPEECHES AFTER	
TRAGEDIES	36
5.1.1 Introductions and Bodies of the Speeches	
5.1.2EVIDENCE	
5.1.3 CONCLUSIONS OF THE SPEECHES	41
5.2 RHETORICAL DEVICES IN OBAMA'S SPEECHES AFTER TRAGEDIES	42

5.2.1 Three-part List	42
5.2.2Use of Pronouns	
5.2.3Contrastive Pairs	
5.2.4Metaphor and Metonymy	
5.2.5Parallelism	
CONCLUSION	
BIBLIOGRAPHY	
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	
APPENDICES	

INTRODUCTION

Tears, sadness, helplessness, dozens of injured or dead people, dozens of those who lost their family members or homes. Tragedies that were caused by the human hand as well as by the power of nature. Survivors who need comfort and encouragement. This is how a scenario after tragedies where people are scared, broken and do not know what to do, may look like. Therefore, they need someone to give them information, tell them what happened, what the next step will be and, above all, calm and support them. They need a leader who takes responsibility, unite all the people and guide them through these difficult times.

I decided to make the analysis of presidential speeches of Barack Obama which followed tragedies in the US. Over the last few years, America had to face serious attacks and natural disasters that maintained the importance of safety. After all, last year, the US experienced the deadliest mass shooting in their history and they had to survive a natural disaster which required the biggest financial to cover the cost of the damage in 2016. This thesis will discuss how Obama comforted people, how he encouraged them, what strategies helped him to achieve these two objectives and also what the structure of the speeches was, in what order the information were given, what he mainly focused on. The work is divided into the theoretical and practical part.

The theoretical part gives descriptions of the main concepts which are essential for the analysis. Firstly, it defines discourse and discourse analysis. Although this work focuses on spoken speeches of Barack Obama, it works with their written form. Therefore, theoretical part also analyzes differences between spoken and written discourse and lists their features. Then, it focuses on what language politicians use, what the features of Obama as a speaker are and lastly it provides information about the strategies which he mostly used.

The practical part specifies the method of the analysis and the speeches which create the corpus. Thereafter, basic information about the types of tragedies that this part deals with is given. The body of the practical part consists of the analysis and concrete examples of the rhetorical devices that were found in Obama's speeches, namely metaphor and metonymy, parallelism, use of pronouns, contrastive pairs and three-part list, and how they helped him to influence human emotions and behavior.

I. THEORY

1 DEFINING DISCOURSE

Cambridge Dictionary (2016) provides a basic definition that discourse is a transmission of the information either orally or in writing. However, Widdowson extends this definition by explaining that discourse does not only transfer the information from the producer to the receiver, but also expresses feelings of people and serves as a tool of persuasion. (Widdowson 2007, 6) According to him, each person can understand the text differently. That is why context plays such a crucial role while interpreting discourse. Right insertion of the text into the context can help to determine its main objective. (Widdowson 2007, 4) Gee agrees and further develops this idea. Communicating the thoughts and ideas surely helps not only to human convergence within social groups, but also works as a connection of different cultures. Nevertheless, he questions whether the context or the language comes first and comes to a conclusion that they both work reciprocally. (Gee 1999, 11)

Paltridge works with the concept where discourse is perceived as a dance. It is created by groups of words, beliefs, tools, and as well as dance performances, it is a bit different every time. He explains it on the example of a rap singer. The way the singer presents himself, his choice of clothing, how he communicates with other people while performing, a language he uses, it all forms his rapper identity. (Paltridge 2012, 10-11) As Gee continues, choice of words people use in a sentence and their order can help users of language to determine what the main part of the information is or how they should perceive the information and finally who the sender is. (Gee 2014, 17)

Therefore, discourse is described as a language in use, meaning that analysis cannot be done without a right amount of context. (Gee 2014, 19) Fairclough defines discourse as "a language in use above the level of the sentence" and states that pragmatics is often used as an equivalent of language in use. (Fairclough 2003, 3) Text does not function as a single unit detached from the outside world. It needs to be set in the context which is created by the everyday life situations, for instance, by the places people visit or work in and by other people they interact with. (Widdowson 2007, 19) Fairclough suggests that the analysis of the text should not include only what is directly said or written, but take the assumptions that the producers have about receivers into the account as well. According to him, when analyzing the discourse, not only understanding the meaning, but also creation of an evaluation takes place, such as credibility of a person. (Fairclough 2003, 11)

Thinking about language in use and how people actually use it in a real life leads to the fact that while interacting with each other, people do not always speak in complete sentences or in grammatically correct sentences. As long as receivers understand what the sender wants to say, spoken communication works without problems. Thus, the relation between grammar and discourse can be looser in a spoken language. However, it does not apply in written discourse because the receiver often does not have a possibility to ask for an immediate clarification of the text.

Different types of discourse exist. From relatively short discourses, such as an order in a restaurant, a small talk in the street, to novels or interviews. As Cook points out, discourse cannot be examined only from the point of view of an individual because what might seem understandable to one person may be completely unclear to the other. Along these lines, discourse focuses rather on how the communicated text is understood and treated by the group of people. (Cook 1989, 7) Widdowson suggests that what the producers mean by the text is usually influenced by their ideas of the world and of course, the text concerns topics which are important to the senders. (Widdowson 2007, 7)

1.1 Spoken and Written Discourse

Spoken discourse is based on the interaction between the speakers. According to Cameron, spoken discourse relies on the fact that people are confident in using the language and they know the language well. (Cameron 2001, 7) Jones suggests that people who carry out actions are always part of spoken discourse. Those actions may be important and serious or may not. Spoken discourse does not include only the information that is communicated, but also people's assumptions of what the most important part of the information is or what part the sender emphasizes the most. (Jones 2016) Another feature of spoken discourse as Widdowson suggests is that once the information is said, it disappears and it is not as easy to return to it. In other words, one word emerges, the other disappears. Of course, the person can ask for a repetition or clarification, but the information can be conveyed slightly differently this time. (Widdowson 2007, 7)

While producing a spoken discourse, speakers also rely on the reactions of listeners, checking if they agree, disagree, if they are listening or not. (Sindoni 2014, 27) As Cameron and Panovic add, while talking, it is, in most cases, clear who *she* or *he* is, who *they* are, *where* they are, what *this* is referring to, etc. from the context because people who are communicating are both in a real time. (Cameron and Panovic 2014)

The main objective of spoken discourse is to clarify and highlight the information that is not clear and also how talking can affect the whole society. (Cameron 2001, 7) Sindoni points out that the speech is more likely to be influenced by other participants of discourse. In the sense that when explaining the issue or clarifying the information, the participants can contribute to the discussion and together may find a new solution or another way of doing something. (Sindoni 2014, 26) As spoken discourse does not take place only in the linguistics field, but also in education, psychology, sociology, law, etc. (Cameron 2001, 7)

Cameron and Panovic state that writing and reading are subjects of learning. They are not humans' natural abilities. Writing ensures the information remains stored as long as possible or needed, so it can then be verbally communicated. (Cameron and Panovic 2014) Written discourse tends to be more stable and provides more options how the text can be treated. Receivers can read the words or gain some understanding even from looking at the pictures, which accompany the text. On the other hand, when reading and understanding the written discourse, people are more reliant on themselves. They cannot ask for immediate clarification because the producer is usually not present at the time of reading the text. So, it is necessary to provide precise descriptions of who *she* or *he* is, who *they* are, *where* they are, what *this* is referring to, etc. (Ghasemi and Jahromi 2014, 153) Sindoni adds that writing needs to be well planned, otherwise readers will get confused because it is not as automatic as speech. (Sindoni 2014, 22)

According to the characteristics of written and spoken texts mentioned above, it is clear that they both require a different approach. Ghasemi and Jahromi have summarized several of the main differences, grounded in the works of Bartsch and Paltridge. They present a view by Bartsch who recognizes "five factors on variations between speech and writing: paralinguistic signals, preciseness, organization, deviations from default orders and frequency of repetition." (Ghasemi and Jahromi 2014, 149-150)

As far as paralinguistic signals (paralanguage) are concerned in spoken discourse, they include, for instance, pause, tempo, rhythm, quality of voice, gestures, which of course, help to create or complete a certain opinion of the conveyed information and of the producer as well. While focusing on preciseness, Ghasemi and Jahromi claim that spoken discourse is frequently accompanied by hedges such as *sort of* and *kind of*, as well as by colloquial vocabulary, for instance, *guy* or *stuff*. (Ghasemi and Jahromi 2014, 150) Considering the frequency of repetition and organization of texts, spoken language tends to repeat words, phrases and it often takes a longer time to express the idea

correctly and concisely. Spoken language, especially informal, has a tendency to depart from the established rules of grammar, as seen in this example: *You like? That is my favourite one.* The absence of the auxiliary verb *do* may be accepted while speaking, but in most of the cases, not in writing. As Sindoni claims, in spoken discourse, it is common to use phrasal verbs, contracted forms or abbreviations. (Sindoni 2014, 28)

While analyzing written discourse, Cameron and Panović understand writing as a visual portrayal of a language. (Cameron and Panovic 2014) Furthermore, it is often accompanied by multimodals, such as pictures, graphs, charts. Apart from multimodal features, the written texts include paralanguage as well, for instance, page layout or font of letters. (Widdowson 2007, 8) Written discourse is often clearer and more coherent than spoken, as the producer has more time to think of appropriate linking words that will ensure the text holds together. However, the immediate clarification or feedback is usually not possible. While producing written discourse, producers of texts usually know what the reader is expecting, for instance, he or she wants to be educated or entertained. This means that producers have a certain idea and assumption of the readers of the text and thus they can adapt the text to its potential readers. (Sindoni 2014, 26)

1.2 Discourse Analysis

Harris came with the first definition of discourse analysis in the early fifties of the twentieth century and defined it "as an analysis of connected speech or writing." (Harris 1952, 1) Even nowadays, scholars work with this concept, for instance, Gee, who describes discourse analysis as "a way in which sentences connect and relate to each other across time in speech or writing." (Gee 2014, 18) Brown and Yule stress the importance of context. According to them, a text cannot be examined only as an isolated unit. Cultural and social contexts need to be included in the analysis. (Brown and Yule 1983, 11) In addition, discourse analysis enables analysts to understand how recipients perceive the text, if it influences them and if they can relate to it. (Paltridge 2012, 1)

Gee states that discourse analysis examines how people adopt the language in their life and how they use it. (Gee 2014, 8) He also suggests that at least two ways how to approach discourse analysis exist. One approach focuses on the topics that people deal with, what subjects they are interested in. The other approach draws the attention to the structure of discourse, meaning how grammar is used to communicate a certain idea or issue. (Gee 2014, 8) Gee compares these approaches to painting a picture. While creating a painting, an artist has to think through what composition he chooses, what colors, what will be

displayed in the picture, so in the end, it clearly expresses his idea or intention. (Gee 2014, 17)

Paltridge agrees with the study of Harris who argues that a model of what language means people use in specific situations exists. (Paltridge 2012, 2) However, Paltridge draws attention to the fact that the understanding of contexts may vary from person to person. Therefore, contexts are subjective matters of each individual and ongoing communication between recipients may change the contexts, enlarge or narrow them down. (Paltridge 2012, 3) They have no limitations and are regarded as subjective because people's cultural manners or beliefs can differ. (Gee and Handford 2012)

Paltridge explains that discourse analysis helps to understand why a person has produced such a text, what its main message is and what outcome the receivers should have. (Paltridge 2012, 3) According to Gee and Handford, people create meaning while interacting with each other in groups, not individually. (Gee and Handford 2012) Thus, studying of various social groups is considered as a key part of the whole analysis. However, the way how the text is analyzed also depends on the given amount of context. If the context is widened, discourse analysis changes. (Gee and Handford 2012) Chilton and Schäffner claim that discourse analysis focuses on three objectives. Firstly, how people achieve the goals they have set, secondly, how they behave in certain situations and lastly, their involvement in events. (Chilton and Schäffner 2002, 18) All of these are done through communication. (Paltridge 2012, 7) To support the division on three main objectives of the analysis, Gee explains the subjects of a discourse analysis by asking questions, such as: how a language is used to make certain things significant or which activities are feasible in which context. (Gee 2005, 11) Discourse analysis helps to understand why people use specific linguistic features and what they want to achieve. It provides a complete picture of the entire text. (Paltridge 2012, 12)

Discourse analysis can also be divided into certain categories, depending on what it is focused on. It can mainly focus on grammar. However, when mentioning grammar, a question arises. Gee and Handford come with an example during a wedding ceremony: "I pronounce you husband and wife." It clearly states what just happened, but it does not clearly state from when and where this claim becomes effective. (Gee and Handford 2012) Apart from grammar, discourse analysis examines how political or social matters influence the texts themselves. (Gee and Handford 2012) This type of analysis is referred to as *critical discourse analysis* and will be described in chapter 1.2.2

1.2.1 The Scope of Study of Discourse Analysis

As suggested in the previous subchapter, not only one view through which the discourse can be analyzed exists. Paltridge states that every scientific discipline can work with a slightly different definition of discourse. (Paltridge 2012, 6) He distinguishes two main perspectives through which the discourse is usually seen and analyzed in linguistics, namely textually and socially oriented discourse. (2012, 6) According to him, textually oriented discourse focuses more on which linguistic features one uses and what effects they have on the receivers. On the other hand, socially oriented discourse deals with cultural or historical references and focuses on underlining the social and historical values. (Paltridge 2012, 7)

Gee distinguishes two approaches to the analysis. (Gee 2014, 8) One examines what the text is about, what information it gives to the receiver. The other one focuses rather on what linguistic features the author uses and why, on a form and structure. The approaches to the analysis differ from each other by how they look at grammar and meaning, which brings us to the division of discourse analysis to descriptive and critical. While descriptive discourse analysis deals with on which principles a language works and why, the critical approach goes further. Critical discourse analysts do not just want to answer this question, but they actually want to put their work in practice. (Gee 2014, 8)

1.2.2 Critical Discourse Analysis

As Gee and Handford suggest, critical discourse analysis (CDA) examines "relation of discourse and other social elements (ideologies, institutions, social identity)." (Gee and Handford 2012) Fairclough agrees with this statement by claiming that the analysis does not focus only on discourse itself. (Fairclough 2010, 4) According to him, CDA should not only provide a description, but also show ways of solution to problems. Horváth mentions that the language people use is influenced by the environment they live in and CDA focuses on social and cultural aspects in a relation to the text. (Horváth 2009, 45) According to Fairclough, CDA is divided into three categories: relational, dialectical and transdisciplinary. (Fairclough 2010, 3)

Relational CDA focuses on the relations between discourse and other objects, for instance, people who communicate with each other, relations between "concrete communicative events (for instance, newspapers articles)". (Fairclough 2010, 3) Dialectical CDA focuses on relations between objects which are different but do not

operate completely separately. Transdisciplinary is based on fact that CDA is not only a part of linguistics but also other disciplines. It sets the methodology, how the analysis should be performed. (Fairclough 2010, 4)

According to Wodak and Meyer, power plays a crucial role in CDA. They state that language supports the power of a person to make power even more significant. Therefore, critical discourse analysis examines how language connects dominance, power and control. (Wodak and Meyer 2009, 10) Machin and Mayer specify that one of the purposes of the critical discourse analysis is to point out to a social problem and make a change about it. (Machin and Mayer 2012, 4) As Locke claims, the word *critical* in critical discourse analysis suggests that it takes into account all the social impacts the receiver may get into or via which the text urges the receiver to subscribe to the idea. (Locke 2004, 9)

2 LANGUAGE AND POLITICS

As this work deals with the discourse analysis of presidential speeches, it is essential to clarify the meaning of *politics*. It is characterized as a set of different activities through which the heads of the governments are determining the direction of the states. (Cambridge Dictionary 2016) Politics should ensure a certain level of a living standard for everyone (Gee 2014, 8) Politicians need to try hard to gain a power and status.

Various types of political leaders appear on a political scene, but according to Charteris-Black, the more democratic system, the better persuasive skills politicians need to have, so that people regard them with favour. (Charteris-Black 2011, 1) Politicians are aware that they have to provide powerful arguments and persuade the audience through the emotions. How the politician is perceived by the general public, what language he or she uses, partly depends on to which political party he or she belongs to. (Utych 2012, 2)

2.1 Political Discourse

The main objective of political discourse (PD) is to examine the connection between politics and language. (Dunmire 2012, 735) Political discourse analysis (PDA) is a subcategory of a discourse analysis (Van Dijk 1997, 13) and when dealing with the term *political discourse* itself, its function may vary depending on the political system, ideology, idea, etc. (Drábková 2012, 159) Chilton and Schäffner claim that context plays a crucial role in political discourse. (Chilton and Schäffner 2002, 17)

A text may be considered political, if, for instance, heads of the states, members of the parliament or members of the political parties occur in its context. (Chilton and Schäffner 2002, 16) Fairclough and Fairclough confirm this statement by claiming that the fundamental part of understanding and interpreting a political discourse correctly is a context. (Fairclough and Fairclough 2012, 17) In other words, PD analyzes the relationships between its participants, who they actually are and on which occasion they communicate. (Chilton and Schäffner 2002, 225) Even though the majority of political discourse analyses in the United States focus on presidential speeches, politicians are not alone in a field of political discourse. Various recipients, meaning different groups of the public, create a significant part of it as well. Chilton and Schäffner recognize various genres of political discourse, for instance: "parliamentary debates, international treaties, peace negotiations." (2002, 225)

PDA also focuses on what the political talk wants to deliver to the audience. If it wants to convince the listeners that something is right or wrong or what feelings the audience

should have while listening to a political talk or while reading a text. While dealing with political discourse, the term *text* refers to written discourse and *talk* refers to spoken discourse. Talks are often recorded in writing, in order to analyze it (Chilton and Schäffner 2002, 16) and they will be the matter of analysis of this work as well. Fairclough and Fairclough suggest that it is necessary to understand the classical, Aristotle's approach of how language and politics are connected to get a better understanding of nowadays approaches to political discourse. (Fairclough and Fairclough 2012, 18)

Aristotle defines speech as "serving to indicate what is useful and what is harmful, and so also what is just and what is unjust." (Fairclough and Fairclough 2012, 19) People are more likely to think about actions which affect or concern them. (Fairclough and Fairclough 2012, 19) Humans usually set down the goals they want to achieve and just then possible ways to get them. They know what they want the audience to feel, to think, what message they want to deliver and then they think about the means which will help them to achieve it. (Fairclough and Fairclough 2012, 19)

Chilton and Schäffner discuss the frame of a political text when delivering the speech to the audience. Speakers usually summarize the basic facts about the situation or event and then express their personal views on the whole situation, their attitude and beliefs. (Chilton and Schäffner 2002, 211) Eventually, they use different linguistic strategies to manipulate the audience. According to Chilton and Schäffner, to make the information relevant, the speakers need to know who will be the audience, especially what their beliefs are and whether the audience needs to hear words of comfort or words of encouragement. (2002, 213) Thus, political discourse needs to take into account all the "socially shared political representation that control political actions, processes and systems." (Chilton and Schäffner 2002, 234)

2.2 Rhetoric

Toye explains that the beginnings of rhetoric are associated with Athens around the fifth century BC, particularly with Sophists who charged high salaries for teaching rhetoric. (Toye 2013, 7) As Livingston suggests, *The Rhetoric* written by Aristotle has become a basis of all the rhetoric. (Livingston 2010, 27) Charteris-Black defines it as a set of human persuasive skills, meaning how well a person is able to influence others to be inclined to his or her opinions. Thus, persuasion and rhetoric stand constantly alongside. (Charteris-Black 2005, 8) Yet, Aristotle argues that to persuade the audience to agree with the speaker's ideas and arguments should not be the main objective of rhetoric. It

should rather set the path to achieve success or to solve a problem. (Aristotle 2010, 6) According to Charteris-Black, rhetoric evaluates how politics dominates the speech from the audience point of view and persuasion reveals how well a speaker can use the persuasive strategies and what impact the strategies have on the audience. (2005, 9) Aristotle sees rhetoric as a skill that can observe practically any object because the group of subjects is not specified. The group of subjects which can be observed is not specified in rhetoric as strictly as, for instance, in medicine. (2010, 7) Barilli further extends this concept by stating that rhetoric works with discourses that practically relate to all human beings and their activities. (Barilli 1989, 8) Whether the speech was successful or not is recognized by the reaction of the audience. A politician may be considered as a poor rhetor when the audience expresses disagreement or not enough support to him. (Charteris-Black 2011, 7)

However, Charteris-Black claims that not all the speeches are made by politicians themselves. (2011, 5) Politicians usually have people who give them advice about the speeches or they even write the speeches for them. As a result, it may be difficult for the audience to know if the politician is sincere and trustful. As Charteris-Black states, political marketing has become popular these days. Even Barack Obama is not an exception. He publicly introduced a person who assisted him with writing speeches. (Charteris-Black 2011, 5) Writers of the speeches need to bear in mind that the speech has to complement politician's personality and a style of expressing. Using plural writers because usually, it is a work of more than one person and a politician can intervene at any time if he or she is not satisfied with the structure of the speech. (Charteris-Black 2011, 6) However, as Charteris-Black clarifies, even if in the most cases, the speaker is not the author of a speech, ownership is attributed to him. (2011, 6) Barilli suggests, writers also have to keep in mind that the audience will not listen to the speech until its very end if it feels that the speaker impose great intellectual demands on the audience. Speakers need to provide space for the audience to engage their imagination to follow the speech. (Barilli 1989, 9)

2.2.1 Ethos, Logos and Pathos

Aristotle states that persuasion in rhetoric is based on three main components. The first component takes into account the speaker himself or herself, his or her nature and a style of a communication. The second component classifies the audience into a certain category and the third deals with the speech itself, a right choice of words and the evidence

which would support the speaker's argument. (Aristotle 2010, 7) These components are referred to as *ethos*, *logos* and *pathos*. (Livingston 2010, 27) As Blakesley and Hoogeveen explain, ethos, logos and pathos help writer while determining what the content of the speech will be and how he or she delivers the information to the audience. (Blakesley and Hoogeveen 2012, 11) Rhodes and 'tHart claim that if the speaker uses these modes well, it demonstrates his or her rhetorical skills and experience. However, they also point out that what the speaker can afford to say is largely influenced by the audience. (Rhodes and 'tHart 2014) Aristotle argues that it is the personality of the speaker, which most influences the audience. The importance of the personality of the speaker is reflected especially in the cases where people have different opinions on the subject. (Aristotle 2010, 7)

Blakesley and Hoogeveen understand *ethos* as a speaker's relation to the subject. He or she expresses a personal view and should offer several other views how the case may be perceived. (Blakesley and Hoogeveen 2012, 11) Rhodes and 'tHart explain that the writer tries to gain credibility and evoke the feeling in the audience that he or she can be trusted. It helps the audience to approach a personality of the speaker. (Rhodes and 'tHart 2014) Livingston suggests that to become credible for the audience, people must believe the speaker has only the best intentions and want to change their lives for the better. (Livingston 2010, 27) She expands that to gain this feeling in the audience the speaker should have perfectly studied the topic and should not read the paper notes. (Livingston 2010, 28)

Connors suggests speaker and author have both different options to become trustworthy. He claims that the sympathy of the audience to the speaker may be influenced by the way the rhetor is dressed, what gestures he or she uses, how loudly or softly he or she is talking during the speech. (Connors 1979, 285) However, writer's options are limited as he or she does not stand face to face to people. Connors states that the credibility depends on how the text is structured if it is organized and comprehensible and also on how well the writer explains the idea. (1979, 285)

Blakesley and Hoogeveen explain that *logos* relies on statistics, pictures, etc., which hold the speech or text together and give reasonable and logical arguments. (Blakesley and Hoogeveen 2012, 11) Livingston claims that this component of persuasion plays a crucial role when the speaker has to convince someone who looks at the matter differently. She states that evidence-based argument should lead to the conclusion of the speech. (Livingston 2010, 30) Connors suggests that the rhetors have to be repetitive

and repeat the evidence at least three times because it helps the audience to store the information for a longer time. He also suggests that the rhythm of speech should be slower for the audience to understand all the evidence, statistics, etc. (Connors 1979, 288-289)

According to Blakesley and Hoogeveen, *pathos* serves as a connection to the emotions of the reader or listener with the author. (Blakesley and Hoogeveen 2012, 11) Livingston claims that the speaker should convince the audience that his or her principles and what he or she considers important are identical to the people's needs. (Livingston 2010, 36) Blakesley and Hoogeveen claim that *pathos* invites the audience to act through emotions. (2012, 11) Connors states that the speaker can follow people's reactions to his or her arguments and evidence and adjust the speech to it. However, the writer cannot. He or she has to have some ideas and assumptions about potential readers. (Connors 1979, 286)

2.3 Structure of Political Speeches

According to Wodak and Koller, speech is a compilation of sentences and statements summarizing and commenting on a particular event, situation, etc., where a speaker expresses his or her own position and opinion on the matter. (Wodak and Koller 2008, 243) It is intended either to a known or unknown audience. Structure, content and elocution of the speeches may vary, depending on which situation or event it applies to, also on the authors of the speeches, on what the outcomes of the speeches should be and, of course how well they are prepared. Although the speeches are usually written down in advance, their oral presentation may differ. (Wodak and Koller 2008, 243)

According to Wodak and Koller, the speaker is the only one talking during the speech, which indicates that speech could be considered as a monologue, but it is not because its content often encourages people to act. (2008, 256) They mention some speeches which may encourage people to act, for instance, a speech that commemorates an important date or event in the history, suggesting that the speech should bring people together, to unite them. Or during the political debate where politicians interrupt each other and take turns. Politicians are required to manage the art of argumentation, but how the speaker is seen in the audience's eyes is also influenced by the speaker's appearance, gestures and behavior. (2008, 256)

Charteris-Black claims that the segmentation of the speech, what the politician says firstly, what lastly, is also essential because it can affect its success. (Charteris-Black 2011, 2) According to him, a speaker firstly attracts the attention of the audience by saying

shocking or surprising information, and after he gains their attention, proceeds further in the speech. (2011, 8)

Charteris-Black divides the structure of the speeches into the following parts. In the introduction, a speaker tries to get the audience on his or her side. He or she is most likely to use pronoun we, to express that the speaker and audience are equal and that the presented issue applies to all of them. (Charteris-Black 2011, 8) As Livingston claims, the speech should be inventive because that is how the solutions are usually found and the speech can begin by asking a question to the audience or by telling a powerful story. The introduction is considered to be a sort of preview of what will follow. (Livingston 2010, 37) According to Charteris-Black, the speech continues by serving a variety of evidence to prove that his or her argument is correct. As he suggests, precedents or analogies are often used in this part of the speech. (2011, 8) Livingston adds that speaker's arguments can be supported by various statistics, practical examples, etc. (Livingston 2010, 37) Speaker may then express criticism and disagreement and finally he or she summarizes the most important parts of the speech. (Charteris-Black 2011, 9)

The goal of politicians is to make their speeches impressive to influence masses of people and provide the audience with the feeling that they can relate to the speech. According to Livingston, speakers should avoid topics that are irresolvable or on which they cannot find solutions even with the audience's help because it could weaken their leadership. (Livingston 2010, 38) Charteris-Black explains that before the speaker begins the speech or before the speaker appears on the stage, typically some basic information is provided about him or her for the audience to know what to expect from the content of the speech. (2011, 10)

2.3.1 President Obama as a Speaker

Elected January 2009, Barack Obama was the 44th president of the United States and first Afro-American to hold the position of the most powerful man in the United States. (Berlin and Fetzer 2012, 193) Kusnet claims that Obama was using more splendid language than Bush and he did not stick strictly to the structure of the speech as Clinton did. In addition, Obama's listeners were Americans from various social classes. (Kusnet 2016) His speeches often referred to the US constitution and to the previous presidents. According to Kusnet, Obama was known for trying to fulfill the statement from the US constitution: to unify America even more. (Kusnet 2016)

A creation of a compact union was one of his main presidential objectives. As Kusnet continues, Obama often included also characters or events from the Bible in his speeches. (2016) Gallo expands that Obama used the following public-speaking techniques, which helped him to capture the attention of the audience: "transcendence, repetition, gesture and voice." (Gallo 2012) Transcendence helped him to portray a realistic picture of the event as he wanted listeners to imagine the situation. Gallo explains that audience needs to hear a concrete solution to the situation, not only general statements. (2012) Repetition emphasizes the most important parts of the speech, so it helps people to remember the main message. Whole sentences or only single words can be repeated. Since Obama was an experienced speaker, he knew that gestures confirm the audience that the speaker knows what he or she is talking about, highlight the speaker's confidence and they accompany the flow of speaker's thoughts. (Gallo 2012) However, Achenbach argues that Obama as a president did not have any characteristic phrase or sentence that people would connect with him. (Achenbach 2013) He mentions his first inaugural speech, claiming that its content was nothing exceptional or memorable, but people felt that he stood there to put forward common values. (Achenbach 2013)

According to Achenbach Obama was considered a good speaker because he knew how to work with his voice so that the speech was trustworthy and believable. He paused to emphasize the important parts of the speech, so people had time to absorb the information and think about it. Obama learned that the main idea of the speech needs to be simply said, yet coherent and that he had to move on from general statements to concrete situations. (Achenbach 2013)

3 RHETORICAL STRATEGIES IN POLITICAL SPEECHES

Charteris-Black suggests that all great speakers have in common the desire to inspire others, to create social and moral values and American speakers, in particular, offer a helping hand to those who need it. (Charteris-Black 2014, 16) At the same time, speakers know that different audiences require using a different language, which the speaker needs to learn. Nowadays, most of the speeches are mediated by mass media. Therefore, Charteris-Black states that media can contribute to the distortion of the speaker's personality and thus contribute to a success or a failure of the speech. (2014, 6) McGuigan suggests that four objectives of rhetorical strategies are to persuade, to inform, to express and to entertain. (McGuigan 2011, 9)

Politicians may persuade their audience by targeting people's emotions, by referring to the authorities or by the involvement of human imagination. Another purpose of political speeches is to inform people about what happened, where, why, etc. (McGuigan 2011, 9) McGuigan suggests that if the speakers want to acquaint the audience with a difficult problem, they may use the rhetorical devices which could help to simplify the problem. He suggests that expressing the idea is very similar to its informative function. The speaker needs to express his or her opinions and thoughts in the original way to captivate the audience. (2011, 9-10) Lastly, he claims that the rhetorical strategies may be used in different ways either to make the audience cry or laugh. He argues it is all about how the speaker presents the ideas. (2011, 10)

According to Charteris-Black, politicians need to choose the right pattern of the speech and the right techniques so that the speech reaches its objectives. (Charteris-Black 2011, 13) The techniques which can help not only to politicians but the speakers in general. They can help to reassure the audience that the speaker has studied the topic and they enable a smooth transition from one idea to the other. These techniques can also tell how close relationship the speaker has to the topic (McGuigan 2011, 3-4) and they will be discussed in the following chapters.

3.1 Metaphor

Kovecses understands a metaphor in terms of domains. He recognizes two domains which need to participate in helping the receiver of the text to understand one idea in terms of the other. These domains are so called *source and target*. (Kovecses 2010, 4) The whole concept is called conceptual metaphor theory. (Musolff and Zinken 2009, 2) According to Kovecses, the source domain provides the expression which is being comprehended

in the target domain. (2010, 4) He illustrates this on the example: *Love is a journey*, explaining that *love* serves as a target domain and *journey* as a source domain which contributes to the understanding of the whole concept of love. (Kovecses 2010, 6)

Charteris-Black considers metaphors to be a strong persuasive feature because they usually include both words which people encounter every day and abstract words, so called unconscious mythical elements. (Charteris-Black 2011, 50-51) To put it into a context of politics, politicians usually combine those nonconcrete, intangible things with tangibles, for instance, the road to victory. (Charteris-Black 2011, 34) According to Charteris-Black, politicians use metaphors to describe both positive and negative things. They adopt them to look good and reflect themselves properly at all times, whether in front of their audience or opponents. (Charteris-Black 2011, 33) Kovecses provides the examples of target domains which appear in the field of politics and they are usually associated with power, for instance: They forced the opposition out of the House or The fight erupted over abortion. (Kovecses 2010, 25)

Lakoff and Johnson claim that metaphors cannot be perceived as an additional part of people's life or as something extra because a metaphor is used on daily basis. (Lakoff and Johnson 1980, 3) According to Charteris-Black, speakers usually lay the basis of metaphor on something that is well known to people, something that concerns them, and thus, in the end, they can better understand matters related to the whole society. He demonstrates this on Margaret Thatcher's speech when discussing the state budget. She started talking about the budgets of individual people, so they could better relate to the topic relating to the whole country. (Charteris-Black 2011, 36)

Davidson compares understanding of metaphors to the perception of dreams while arguing it both involves imagination and creativity. (Davidson 1978, 31) He claims that no procedure according to which a metaphor could be evaluated by its popularity or even by what the expression means, exist. (Davidson 1978, 31) Charteris-Black agrees with him by stating that restriction which word can be used as metaphoric and which cannot, does not exist. (Charteris-Black 2011, 31) Semino and Demjén claim that metaphors can be perceived as trying to understand one thing through the eyes of the other. (Semino and Demjén 2017) Charteris-Black states that it is the strength of metaphors because everyone can understand and interpret them differently. (2011, 38) Kovecses suggests that metaphors can be understood in two major ways, so called *online and offline understanding*. (Kovecses 2010, 41) Online understanding appears practically immediately

while talking, in opposite to offline understanding, which is a long process involving a memory as well. (Kovecses 2010, 41)

According to Charteris-Black, to create a metaphor, the typical usage of the word has to be changed and a person needs to know the literal meaning of the words. (Charteris-Black 2011, 31) Kovecses agrees with him by stating that metaphors usually rely on people's understanding of concepts. (2010, 42) Charteris-Black explains that metaphors have the ability to influence people's emotions towards the speech or a speaker. (2011, 32)

3.2 Metonymy

Metonymy usually occurs in the text together with a metaphor. As Degani, Frassi and Lorenzetti explain, metonymy allows understanding of one thing by its relation to something else. (Degani, Frassi and Lorenzetti 2016, 71) Powel and Cowart claim that through the material things metonymy points out to the intangibles, as seen in the example *blood, sweat and tears* used by Winston Churchill when referring to pain. (Powel and Cowart 2013) Shoesmith claims that those two concepts have to be linked. (Shoesmith 2016, 87) Zilienski suggests that people, depending on their culture, social background or the society they live in, determine which word will be a metonymy. (Zilienski 2012, 11)

However, this approach does not necessarily work every time, as seen in the example: *Smoke is coming out of her ears*. (Zilienski 2012, 12) He continues that to understand it properly both source and the target are needed. (2012, 12) Metonymy is used to arise people's emotions. Shoesmith shows this in the example when combining the words "terrorist and Muslim", which suggest negative emotions. (2016, 87) Zilienski states that metonymy appears in the political speech to render things, events or people at their best or, conversely, in the worst light possible. (Zilienski 2012, 12)

3.3 Pronouns

According to Gocheco, personal pronouns help speakers to establish contact with the audience and also distance themselves from their opponents. (Gocheco 2012, 5) Personal pronouns can be described as "a grammatical form referring directly to the speaker (first person), addressee (second person) or others involved in an interaction (third person)." (Al-Faki 2014, 191) According to Bramley, pronouns are approached in different ways. They are perceived simply as a part of speech which stands instead of nouns or as features which "refer to speech participants, the first person represents the speaker and the second person represents the addressee." (Bramley 2001, 16) Bramley

argues that instead of pronouns being used as an objective component of the speech, they rather portray speaker's position towards those who agree with him or her and to those who do not. (2001, 16)

Al-Faki states that the main purpose of speeches is to attract the audience and thus, politicians should outline their solution to the situation as clearly and concretely as possible because it is easier to persuade people to share the same opinion. (Al-Faki 2014, 190) He agrees with Bramley that politicians usually use pronouns in order to render themselves in a favorable light and want the shadow to fall over their opponents and personal pronouns help them accomplish this purpose. (2014, 191) According to Al-Faki, the most frequent personal pronouns in political speeches are: *I, you, we, they* and their forms. (2014, 191)

Bramley claims that politicians use we to give people the feeling they are part of a bigger entity, bigger group, which obviously carries both positives and negatives. The speakers give people the feeling of being in all of this together, meaning it all concerns them the same so that looking for a solution should be carried out together. (2001, 126) As Al-Faki suggests, if a politician uses we, it is very likely that pronoun they will soon appear in the speech as referring to the opposition party because politicians use they to identify the others. (2014, 191) Bramley notes that "the others" either refer to a concrete group of people, to a general public or to a group of people which is not further defined. (2001, 213) Mostly, politicians use personal pronoun they when they want to address a concrete group of people. They may be also used when talking about only one person, but not wanting to reveal any further information about that person, for instance, gender or age. They, which refer to the specific group of people, is mostly used when politicians want to maintain a neutrality and keep the distance towards people. They referring to the general public can be mostly seen when discussing a sensitive issue. (Bramley 2001, 214-216) According to Bramley, personal pronoun you is used similarly. It works as a tool of expressing disapproval or a different opinion on the discussed matter. (2001, 180) In addition, possessive pronouns such as my or their, are widely used when politicians explain their own attitudes or beliefs. (Al-Faki 2014, 191)

3.4 Three-part list

Mercer defines a three-part list, also known as the rule of three, as a feature that highlights the main ideas of the speech by using three parts which are connected to each other and follow each other. (Mercer 2000, 74) According to Atkinson, three-part lists are

used in political speeches because they help the speech to be cohesive. (Atkinson 1984, 57) The words in the list need to be logically connected and consistent with the context. The last word in the list is considered as the beginning of a new thought. Three-part lists prove that the speaker is sure about his or her thoughts, he or she believes in it. (Atkinson 1984, 58-60) Mercer also claims that while a speaker is saying the three-part list and is making pauses to enlarge the effect, the listeners can guess when the list ends and may reward the producer with the applause or some other natural reaction. (Mercer 2000, 75)

The three-part list can include either three same words or three different ones. Atkinson offers an example of a speech of Hugh Gaitskell, who was the head of Labour Party: "We shall fight, fight and fight again to save the party we love", where the three-part list highlights the message he wanted to convey. (Atkinson 1984, 60) Nonetheless, politicians rather use lists of three different words as seen in the speech of George Wallace after his election for Alabama governor in 1963: "...and I say segregation now, segregation tomorrow and segregation forever." (Atkinson 1984, 60) The timing of three-part list is essential, as well as a pause that the speaker makes between the words.

3.5 Parallelism

Parallelism is used to emphasize politicians' beliefs and attitudes. According to Al-Faki, its main function is to express different ideas, which are, however, similarly structured. (Al-Faki 2014, 192) Livingston compares parallelism to repetition. She claims that different ideas are arranged according to a similar structure because of the rhythm. (Livingston 2010, 43) Words that create the parallelism usually belong to the same semantic field. (Montgomery 2007, 220) Al- Faki claims that speaker uses parallelism when connecting several similar ideas which have the same degree of importance, as seen in the Party Conference speech by British Prime Minister Margaret Thatcher in 1984:

"It is the law of the land, the heritage of the people. No man is above the law and no man is below it. Obedience to the law is demanded as a right, not asked as a favour." (Al-Faki 2014, 192)

From the example of Margaret Thatcher's speech, it is seen that parallelism makes the speech more coherent, convincing and accurate. Therefore, the audience has a greater chance to remember the important passages of the speech. According to Montgomery, when politicians use parallelism, they want to target human emotions and three types of parallelism can appear in the speech, namely syntactic, lexical and phonological. (Montgomery 2007, 220)

Syntactic parallelism is created by "a pair of parallel words, one in each section of the text." (Forraiová 2011, 17) As Montgomery suggests, syntactic parallelism focuses on the structure of sentences and on sentences which have the same syntactic form. It is a typical feature of political speeches. Lexical parallelism focuses on the meaning of the words in the sentences and phonological parallelism means how the sentences sound if they have for example the same sound at the beginning. (Montgomery 2007, 220)

3.6 Contrastive pairs

Al-Faki defines a contrastive pair or also called antithesis, as a combination of two words which are opposites of each other. (Al-Faki 2014, 182) As Powell and Cowart explain, different variations of antithesis exist. In one type of antithesis, only one word is an antonym to the other, e. g. *Make love, not war*. (Powell and Cowart 2013) Other contrastive pairs include two words with opposite meanings, as seen in this example: "I hate Louisiana politics, but I love Louisiana." (Powell and Cowart 2013) As Mercer suggests, this type of a contrastive pair is widely used because it makes the speech unique and memorable. (Mercer 2000, 75) Another type of antithesis is the inverted antithesis, which can be seen in the speech by J. F. Kennedy: "Ask not what your country (A) can do for you (B), ask what you (B) can do for your country (A)." (Powell and Cowart 2013)

To underline the strength of a statement and to gain the greatest possible impact of the contrastive pair, the politician has to place it in the right position in the speech. According to Powel and Cowart, the part that the speaker wants to highlight the most should be placed at the very end of the contrastive pair. They also suggest that both parts of the contrastive pair should be balanced. One part should not be longer or include more words than the other. (Powell and Cowart 2013) Mercer claims that contrastive pairs, as well as three-part lists, help the speaker to connect with his or her audience so that the listeners keep the attention to the very end of the speech. (Mercer 2000, 76)

II. ANALYSIS

4 METHODOLOGY

This part of the thesis will analyze speeches of the former US president Barack Obama after mass shootings, terrorist attacks and natural disasters. Each type of tragedy will consist of three approximately same long speeches (2-3 A4 pages), apart from the Baton Rouge Flooding, which is six pages long because the questions from journalists are included in the speech as well. Obama's full speeches are available on the enclosed CD.

The practical part of the work will focus on the rhetorical strategies which were described in the theoretical part. The strategies will be located in the texts and then explained why Obama used such a strategy, what he wanted to achieve and what reactions the strategy was to induce among the audiences. The work will evaluate what rhetorical strategies Obama mostly used and if there are any differences in expressing himself in the speeches after natural disasters and in expressing himself in the speeches after mass shootings and terrorist attacks.

4.1 Corpus of Political Speeches

The corpus includes nine speeches all of which relate to the national tragedies in the United States during the time of Obama's presidency and they are dated from the years 2011–2016. All the speeches are addressed to the general public. This work deals with the speeches following tragedies in which high numbers of victims were recorded and which sparked the greatest wave of reactions. Obama had commented on some of the events more than once, such as the Boston Marathon Explosions, but for the purpose of this work, only his first statement, which he delivered immediately after the tragedy was chosen. Following speeches will be analyzed:

Speeches after Mass Shootings:

- Remarks on the Shooting Tragedy in Aurora, Colorado
- Statement on the Shooting at Charleston Emanuel AME Church
- Statement on the Sandy Hook Elementary School Shootings in Newton, Connecticut

Speeches after Terrorist Attacks:

- First Statement on the Boston Marathon Explosions
- Statement on the Orlando, Florida Shootings
- Statement on the Explosions in New York and New Jersey

Speeches after Natural Disasters:

- Remarks by the President on Hurricane Matthew
- Baton Rouge Flooding Press Statement
- Remarks by the President after Touring Tornado Damage in Joplin, Missouri

The speeches, as well as all the statements, used as examples in the thesis, were taken from the website http://americanrhetoric.com/, apart from the Remarks by the President after Touring Tornado Damage in Joplin, Missouri and Remarks by the President on Hurricane Matthew, these speeches come from https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/.

5 ANALYSIS OF THE SPEECHES AFTER TRAGEDIES

This chapter outlines the issue of the national tragedies in the USA and provides background information on the types of tragedies which are being analyzed in this work. According to Berkowitz et al, mass shootings in the United States are mostly caused by people who hold the guns legally. (Berkowitz et al 2017) However, Ingraham points out that various definitions of mass shootings exist. They mainly differ in the number of victims and in the use of weapons. An incident is most frequently classified as a mass shooting if three and more people die or are seriously injured, but an attacker is usually not counted in this number. (Ingraham 2015) Ingraham also mentions that three categories of mass shootings exist: "public shootings, domestic violence and gang violence." (Ingraham 2015) This thesis will focus on the analysis of public shootings. Another type of tragedy that will be covered is speeches after terrorist attacks.

Mosher and Gould suggest that one American dies every year because of terrorist attacks caused by murderers who were born in foreign countries and death of six Americans is caused by the Islamic terrorists every year. (Mosher and Gould 2017) Nonetheless, terrorism lacks a united definition. Mailto and Libaw provide features of terrorism, namely "violence, noncombatant targets, intention of spreading fear, and political aims." (Mailto and Libaw 2001) They continue with the statement made by Yonah Alexander, a terrorism expert and director of the Institute for Studies in International Terrorism at the State University of New York, who claims that terrorists do not venerate any laws. (Mailto and Libaw 2001) However, not all tragedies are caused by the hands of humans, such as natural disasters.

Natural disasters can, of course, kill or injure hundreds of people, but also destroy houses, entire neighborhoods, etc. Riley states that according to the 2016 statistics made by a German reinsurance firm Munich RE, the worst and financially most expensive natural disaster in the USA that also took away hundreds of lives, was hurricane Matthew. Riley continues with a statement of the head of Munich RE's Geo Risks Research Unit that these catastrophes are only going to be more frequent in the future as a result of changes in the world's climate. (Riley 2017)

5.1 Structure of Obama's Speeches after Tragedies

After tragedies, people need to hear words of comfort, they need to gain back their confidence and a feeling that they are not alone in the situation and have someone to rely on. Barack Obama was well aware of it. Along these lines, this subchapter will focus on the speeches delivered immediately after or in the case of natural disasters also during the tragedies, and examine their structure, what the former president said in the introduction, what followed, how he concluded the speeches and how he calmed down not only the survivors but all the Americans.

5.1.1 Introductions and Bodies of the Speeches

These paragraphs represent the introductions of Obama's speeches after tragedies and natural disasters and they all began with references to the authorities of the national security forces and to the Governors.

- (1) I spoke with Governor Malloy and FBI Director Mueller. (Obama, Statement on the Sandy Hook Elementary School Shooting, 2012)
- (2) I spoke with, and Vice President Biden spoke with, Mayor Joe Riley and other leaders of Charleston. (Obama, Statement on the Charleston Emanuel AME Church Shooting, 2015)
- (3) I just finished a meeting with FBI Director Comey and my homeland security and national advisors. (Obama, Statement on the Orlando Shooting, 2016)
- (4) I just received an update from our FEMA Director, Craig Fugate, as well as the rest of our national security team. (Obama, Remarks by the President on Hurricane Matthew, 2016)

By mentioning their names, Obama added credibility not only to the speeches themselves but mainly to himself as a speaker. As mentioned in the subchapter 2.2.1, the personality of the speaker, called *ethos*, plays a crucial role while delivering the speech. In the cases of mass shootings and terrorist attacks, Obama was forming his personality by condemning these acts, which was indicated by the choice of adjectives, for instance, *heinous* or *senseless* crimes. These adjectives should have, of course, maintain

the monstrosity of the crimes but also draw the audience's attention and encourage them to continue to listen.

When delivering the speeches during or after natural disasters, he could not condemn any acts as the tragedy was not caused by a human hand. Therefore, Obama reminded people to do not underestimate the power of such element and that people should listen to and follow the instructions given by the national security forces to stay safe as seen in the example (5). At the same time, he expressed gratitude to those who helped, for instance, to take care of the injured people, which can be observed in the statements (6) and (7):

- (5) And so I just want to emphasize to everybody that this is still a really dangerous hurricane; that the potential for storm surge, flooding, loss of life and severe property damage continues to exist. (Obama, Remarks by the President on Hurricane Matthew, 2016)
- (6) I want to thank the outstanding work that Governor Nixon, the Mayor, all the congressional delegation, as well as the First Lady have done -- and the Red Cross -- in helping people to respond. (Obama, Remarks by the President after Touring Tornado Damage in Joplin, Missouri, 2011)
- (7) Well, to begin with, I just want to say thank you to the outstanding officials behind me who have been on the ground, working 24/7 since this flood happened. (Obama, Baton Rouge Flooding Press Statement, 2016)

The introduction should also indicate the direction the speech will take and what will follow. In all the speeches, Obama suggested that he was ready to care for the victims. He also expressed sadness so that the listeners expected he would aim to unify people. Furthermore, from the position of the president, he put himself into the role of authority, which gave people the feeling that he was trustworthy, that he cared for them and he would hide them under his protective wings. The fact that Obama portrayed himself as the leader can be seen in this part: *my condolences on behalf of the nation*, in this part: *not just on behalf of Michelle and myself, but the entire American family* or in this part: *I come here, first and foremost, to say that the prayers of the entire nation are with everybody who lost loved ones.* However, he realized that the transition from the authority to being one

of the people, who are hurting, was needed, so he tried to get closer to people, as seen in these statements:

- (8) We've endured too many of these tragedies in the past few years. And each time I learn the news I react not as a President, but as anybody else would as a parent. (Obama, Statement on the Sandy Hook Elementary School Shootings, 2012)
- (9) My daughters go to the movies. What if Malia and Sasha had been at the theater, as so many of our kids do every day? (Obama, Remarks on the Shooting Tragedy in Aurora, Colorado, 2012)

The statements above suggest that he left the role of the president, the authority and moved to the position of a parent, which brought him closer to the people. He tried to get even closer to the audience by underlining the pain they, as parents, suffered and by using another strong adjective *overwhelming*, as seen in this part: *I know there's not a parent in America who doesn't feel the same overwhelming grief that I do*. Obama said this from the position of the parent of two daughters, which certainly helped him to gain more credibility.

He maintained his position of a father in the Aurora Tragedy Speech as well: My daughters go to the movies. What if Malia and Sasha had been at the theater, as so many of our kids do every day? In the Charleston Church Speech and Orlando Shootings Speech, he did not focus on the importance of the family as such, but on the importance of American nation as one community, which again leads to the point that Obama was keen on fulfilling the statement from the US Constitution, to unify the country, as seen in the statements:

(10) And at some point it's going to be important for the American people to come to grips with it, and for us to be able to shift how we think about the issue of gun violence collectively. (Obama, On the Shooting at Charleston Emanuel AME Church, 2015)

- (11) As a country, we will be there for the people of Orlando today, tomorrow and for all the days to come. (Obama, Statement on the Orlando, Florida Shootings, 2016)
- (12) And as they do, the American people will be with them every single step of the way. (Obama, First Statement on the Boston Marathon Explosions, 2013)

After the introduction, the speaker is expected to leave some space for the audience's imagination. The involvement of the imagination can be seen in the statements (13) and (14) below when he referred to the children's future. Obama wanted the audience to think with him and to realize what was in the store for those children. He also wanted the audience to realize that those people played different roles in their lives, in which they cannot continue. By naming all of these different roles that people had in their lives, he was also establishing *pathos*, aiming on people's emotions because when people realized that those could have been their family members, it touched their emotions and they agreed with Obama that together they need to protect their children, the future of the country.

- (13) The majority of those who died today were children beautiful little kids between the ages of 5 and 10 years old. They had their entire lives ahead of them birthdays, graduations, weddings, kids of their own. Among the fallen were also teaches men and women who devoted their lives to helping our children fulfill their dreams. (Obama, Statement on the Sandy Hook Elementary School Shootings, 2012)
- (14) The people we lost in Aurora loved and they were loved. They were mothers and fathers; they were husbands and wives; sisters and brothers; sons and daughters, friends and neighbors. (Obama, Remarks on the Shooting Tragedy in Aurora, 2012)

5.1.2 Evidence

Mass shootings and terrorist attacks are certainly sensitive topics that need to be treated carefully. Those crimes were condemned by most of the public and therefore, providing more statistics or evidence could hurt the people and survivors even more. Statistics are expected in cases in which people do not share the same views

and the speaker needs to uphold his or her statements. Despite this fact, Obama provided some examples. He claimed that there have been too many similar tragedies during the last months, which can be observed in the statement (15) and (16) below.

After the introduction part of the speeches following the mass shootings and terrorist attacks, he usually talked a little bit about the attackers, but as seen in the statements (17) and (18) below, he did not display too much information. However, in the case of natural disasters, Obama wanted to provide as much information as possible, mainly where, for instance, the hurricane or storm was heading, what cities were in danger, etc., which can be seen in the statement (19).

- (15) Whether it's an elementary school in Newtown, or a shopping mall in Oregon, or a temple in Wisconsin, or a movie theater in Aurora, or a street corner in Chicago. (Obama, Statement on the Sandy Hook Elementary School Shootings, 2012)
- (16) Many of you will remember Hurricane Sandy. (Obama, Remarks by the President on Hurricane Matthew, 2016)
- (17) Now, we're still gathering all the facts about what happened in Aurora, but what we do know is that the police have one suspect in custody. (Obama, Remarks on the Shooting Tragedy in Aurora, 2012)
- (18) The Attorney General has announced plans for the FBI to open a hate crime investigation. We understand that the suspect is in custody. (Obama, On the Shooting at Charleston Emanuel AME Church, 2015)
- (19) First, what we're seeing now is Matthew having moved above South Florida and some of the largest population centers, working its way north. And the big concern that people are having right now is the effects that it could have in areas like Jacksonville on through Georgia. (Obama, Remarks by the President on Hurricane Matthew, 2016)

After or during the natural disasters, Obama usually told a story of a family or a person who survived the disaster, as seen in the statement (20), to let people forget

for a moment about the horror some of them had to endure and show that there are also stories with happy endings or at least stories that appeal emotions, as in the example (21).

- (20) I met an 85-year-old gentleman who has a -- still has a lawn service. He explained how he had just gotten his chicken pot-pie out and the storm started coming and he went into the closet, and came out without a scratch. (Obama, Remarks by the President after Touring Tornado Damage in Joplin, Missouri, 2011)
- (21) I was just speaking to a young woman whose husband died shortly after the birth of her second child, and she was talking about her daughter trying to gather all the keepsakes that she had in her bedroom, but reminded her of her father. (Obama, Baton Rouge Flooding Press Statement, 2016)

By remembering all of these events and by providing the evidence about the tragedies, along with reassuring the audience that the security forces were working to protect the nation, he established *logos*. However, a concrete solution to the problem or a specific proposal for a solution was not heard in any of the speeches. Obama only emphasized the need to unite and stick together as a nation to survive those horrific times.

5.1.3 Conclusions of the Speeches

When reaching the end of the speeches, Obama used to refer to God, to Bible or to the authorities, for instance, to Martin Luther King, as seen in the statements below. He wanted to suggest that there is a greater power that would unite all the people and would help them to survive any difficult times that would come.

(22) May God bless the memory of the victims and, in the words of Scripture, heal the brokenhearted and bind up their wounds. (Obama, Statement on the Sandy Hook Elementary School Shootings in Newtown, 2012)

- (23) That, certainly, was Dr. King's hope just over 50 years ago, after four little girls were killed in a bombing in a black church in Birmingham, Alabama. (Obama, On the Shooting at Charleston Emanuel AME Church, 2015)
- (24) May God bless the Americans we lost this morning. May He comfort their families. May God continue to watch over this country that we love. Thank you. (Obama, Statement on the Orlando, Florida Shootings, 2016)
- (25) And so we've all got to put together because here but for the grace of God go I. Thank you very much, everybody. (Obama, Remarks by the President after Touring Tornado Damage in Joplin, Missouri, 2011)

5.2 Rhetorical Devices in Obama's Speeches after Tragedies

A repetitive usage of some of the rhetorical devices may be found in Obama's speeches. This chapter will focus on the strategies mentioned in the theoretical part, namely three-part list, metaphor and metonymy, parallelism, contrastive pairs and the use of pronouns. It will explain what were the functions of the strategies in the speeches and in which occasions Obama mostly used them.

5.2.1 Three-part List

Barack Obama used three-part lists frequently. Along with the use of pronouns and parallelism, three-part lists are dominant strategies which appear in his every speech. As suggested in the subchapter 3.4, three-part lists should highlight the main ideas of the speech and help the speaker to emphasize that he or she is serious about the statements. It is necessary the words in the list are somehow connected and they follow the speaker's thoughts as seen in the statements:

- (26) Investigate this heinous crime, care for the victims, counsel their families.
 (Obama, Statement on the Sandy Hook Elementary School Shooting in Newton, 2012)
- (27) And to say our thoughts and prayers are with them and their families, and their community... (Obama, On the Shooting at Charleston Emanuel AME Church, 2015)

In the example (26), Obama suggested that first, they will *investigate* what happened during that day, who did it and why. Then it will be time to *care* for people who lost their loved ones and if necessary, they will *counsel* them. It is obvious that words used in this three-part list have both logical and temporal sequence. In the example (27), a shift from the smallest to the largest unit can be observed, firstly prayers for the people who were murdered would take place, then for *their families*, and then for *their community*. Thereby Obama also wanted to present a shift towards the most important thing, the community, which refers to the fact that the unification of America xwas his priority.

- (28) For the parents and grandparents, sisters and brothers of these little children, and for the families of the adults who were lost. (Obama, Statement on the Sandy Hook Elementary School Shootings in Newtown, 2012)
- (29) Love across Charleston today, from all races, from all faiths, from all places of worship. (Obama, On the Shooting at Charleston Emanuel AME Church, 2015)

In the statement (28), the use of three-part list indicates the roles that the murdered people played in their lives. In the example (29), there is not a reference to the people's roles in lives, but it suggests that no matter the role in the life, no matter the race, the faith, people needed to come together and help each other to overcome such a difficult time. By using these combinations of words, Obama also left space for the audience's imagination, so they could actually portray all of the victims and what they could experience if a murderer did not take their lives away.

- (30) To remind them that we are there for them, that we are praying for them, that the love they felt for those they lost endures not just in their memories but also in ours. (Obama, Statement on the Sandy Hook Elementary School Shooting in Newtown, 2012)
- (31) For the people who knew them and loved them, for those who are still struggling to recover, and for all the victims of less publicized acts of violence

that plague our communities every single day. (Obama, Remarks on the Shooting Tragedy in Aurora, 2012)

(32) The good news is I am confident that the outpouring of unity and strength and fellowship and love across Charleston today...(Obama, On the Shooting at Charleston Emanuel AME Church, 2015)

Obama also used a three-part list when offering a helping hand and a prayer to those directly affected by the tragedy as seen in the statements (30), (31) and (32). It certainly helped him to be portrayed as a great authority in the eyes of the audience and it evoked the feeling that he could be trusted. In the statements (33) and (34), it can be observed that not only single words but also sentences can create the three-part list.

- (33) ...cooperating with state and local officials rapidly and with attention to detail, and keeping families who've been affected uppermost in their minds. (Obama, Baton Rouge Flooding Press Statement, 2016)
- (34) We're going to be going to a memorial service and try to help comfort the families and let them know that were praying for them and thinking about them. (Obama, Remarks by the President after Touring Tornado Damage in Joplin, Missouri, 2011)

However, as seen in the statements above, when using whole sentences in the threepart list, it is more demanding for the audience to keep up with the speaker's thoughts.

5.2.2 Use of Pronouns

The use of pronouns, especially personal pronouns, is a significant phenomenon in Obama's speeches following national tragedies. This subchapter will mainly focus on the usage of personal pronouns we, they, their forms us and them and also personal pronoun I because these most frequently appeared in his speeches. As suggested in the theoretical part, pronouns help politicians to make the greatest impression on their audience and clearly determine which side the speaker is inclined to.

5.2.2.1 Personal Pronouns We/Us

At the beginning of the speeches following mass shootings and terrorist attacks, Obama was most likely to use a pronoun *we* as he wanted to suggest that as a leader, he was in a close cooperation with security forces. It helped him to get into the position of one of the members of the national security forces and evoked a feeling among audiences that he and the security forces tried to find all the answers needed to solve the crime, which can be seen in the examples (35), (36) and (37).

- (35) We are still learning all the facts. We've reached no definitive judgment on the precise motivations of the killer. (Obama, Statement on the Orlando, Florida Shootings, 2016)
- (36) We're still gathering all the facts about what happened in Aurora, but what we do know is that the police have one suspect in custody. (Obama, Remarks on the Shooting in Aurora, Colorado, 2012)
- (37) We don't yet have all the answers. But we do know that multiple people have been wounded, some gravely, in explosions at the Boston Marathon. (Obama, First Statement on the Boston Marathon Explosions, 2013)

The investigation of such crimes should proceed cautiously, but Obama did not want to sound as an incompetent leader, as they still did not have much evidence and therefore, his speeches after tragedies had a similar structure, which may be seen in the examples (36) and (37). They did not have all the information, but at least they had a suspect in custody or knew how many people were hurt, which would make people feel like they were working hard on the case and that other information would come.

However, no such usage of a pronoun we or no similar structure appears in the speeches following natural disasters. It may not be obvious what damage the hurricane, flooding or tornado inflicted, but it can be predicted how long it will take until it disappears or what its direction is. Obama preferred to emphasize the work of organizations or individuals that were helping to clear the damage or taking care about the survivors.

- (38) *Today, as Americans, we grieve the brutal murder...* (Obama, Statement on the Orlando, Florida Shootings, 2016)
- (39) Instead, we will stand united, as Americans... (Obama, Statement on the Orlando, Florida Shootings, 2016)
- (40) And at some point it's going to be important for the American people to come to grips with it, and for us to be able to shift... (Obama, On the Shooting at Charleston Emanuel AME Church, 2015)

Examples (38) and (39) illustrate that Obama used a pronoun we also when he wanted to become one of the citizens, one of the families who lost their members and show people that these tragedies are not tragedies only for individuals, but for the whole American nation. Not only he argued that it affected every American, but he again put himself into the position of the leader and authority that people could look up to. It can be observed in the example (40). First, he specified who he was talking about and in the next part of the sentence he was already using a pronoun us, which gave the audience the impression that they belonged to a larger group, whom they could depend on.

- (41) Michele and I will do what I know every parent in America will do, which is hug our children a little tighter and we'll tell them that we love them, and we'll remind each other how deeply we love one another. (Obama, Statement on the Sandy Hook Elementary School Shootings in Newtown, Connecticut, 2012)
- (42) *Michele and I will be fortunate enough to hug our girls a little tighter tonight.*(Obama, Remarks on the Shooting Tragedy in Aurora, Colorado, 2012)
- (43) *Michelle and I know several members of Emanuel AME Church*. (Obama, On the Shooting at Charleston Emanuel AME Church, 2015)

As illustrated in the examples above, Obama used we, when he was referring to himself and his wife. It helped him get closer to people, show them that he was one of them and that he was hurt as much as they were. By using specific names, he also created a more personal relationship and wanted to be a good example for the people, show

people the way they should go, meaning be grateful for their children and take care of them.

5.2.2.2 Personal Pronouns They/Them

In political speeches, pronouns we and they or their forms us and them, usually follow each other or are close to each other in the sentence. This is because the speaker wants it to be clear right from the beginning, which side he or she takes. Personal pronoun they was in Obama's speeches used to address a concrete group of people, assailants and murderers, which can be observed in the examples (44) and (45), from which he wanted to distance not only himself but also other Americans who behaved according to the laws. However, he did not use they only with the association with the criminals, but also when he referred to people who lost, for instance, their homes and families during the natural disasters or during the mass shootings, as seen in the statement (46).

- (44) They are trying to hurt innocent people, but they also want to inspire fear in all of us. (Obama, Statement on the Explosions in New York and New Jersey, 2016)
- (45) ...get their hands on a weapon that lets them shoot people in a school, or in a house of worship, or a movie theater, or in a nightclub. (Obama, Statement on the Orlando, Florida Shootings, 2016)
- (46) *They need all of us right now.* (Obama, Statement on the Sandy Hook Elementary School Shootings in Newtown, Connecticut, 2012)

The examples (44) and (46) show Obama's arrangement of pronouns. Firstly, he used pronoun *they* and ended the sentence by pronoun *we*, even though, in the first example *they* refers to the attackers and in the second example to the families of the victims. Nonetheless, he placed *we* towards the end of the sentence to illustrate that the community they, as Americans have, is stronger than the attackers and is capable of providing a helping hand to whoever needs it.

5.2.2.3 Personal pronoun I

The personal pronoun I appears most frequently in Obama's speeches after natural disasters than in other two types of tragedies.

- (47) *I want to thank them all for their leadership*. (Obama, Remarks by the President on Hurricane Matthew, 2016)
- (48) I want to thank the outstanding work that Governor Nixon, the Mayor...
 (Obama, Remarks by the President after Touring Tornado Damage in Joplin, Missouri, 2011)
- (49) I just want to say thank you to the outstanding officials behind me...(Obama, Baton Rouge Flooding Press Statement, 2016)

It can be observed from the statements above that he used personal pronoun *I*, when expressing gratitude to those who helped to put the cities hit by the natural catastrophes back on their feet. He put himself into the role of the authority and as the most powerful man in the country, he wanted to thank for a good job because from such a position people would appreciate the praise more.

- (50) I spoke with Governor Malloy and FBI Director Mueller. (Obama, Statement on the Sandy Hook Elementary School Shootings in Newtown, Connecticut, 2012)
- (51) I was briefed by my homeland security team on the events in Boston. (Obama, First Statement on the Boston Marathon Explosions, 2013)
- (52) I've just been briefed again by FBI Director Comey. (Obama, Statement on the Explosions in New York and New Jersey, 2016)

When delivering a speech after mass shootings and terrorist attacks, he was most likely to use I while referring to his conversation with national security forces, which can be seen in the examples above. As mentioned in the subchapter 5.1.1, Obama often mentioned concrete names of the people working for the national security forces as it would add him credibility and it would persuade people that he was providing verified information.

5.2.3 Contrastive Pairs

As discussed in the subchapter 3.6, contrastive pairs are combinations of words which stand as opposite to each other and the most important part of the information should stand at the very end of the pair, which can be seen the Obama's statements:

- (53) We can always replace property, but we can't replace lives. (Obama, Remarks by the President on Hurricane Matthew, 2016)
- (54) *They're okay. But they've been displaced.* (Obama, Remarks by the President after Touring Tornado Damage in Joplin, Missouri, 2011)
- (55) ...not just on behalf of Michelle and myself, but the entire American family. (Obama, Remarks on the Shooting Tragedy in Aurora, Colorado, 2012)
- (56) I react not as a President, but as anybody else would, as a parent. (Obama, Statement on the Sandy Hook Elementary School Shootings in Newtown, Connecticut, 2012)

It can be seen in the example (53) that he wanted to remind people that materialistic things are useless when people's lives are at risk and people can only start to think about property and other materialistic things when those who suffered are finally safe, which can be observed in the example (54). In the speeches following natural disasters, Obama used contrastive pairs mostly to highlight the value and importance of human lives.

In the speeches after mass shootings and terrorist attacks Obama used contrastive pairs rather to illustrate the importance of the American nation as one community and family that holds tightly together, meaning that an individual is too weak to survive this horrific time alone, but as one community, it is possible, as suggested in the statement (55). That is also why he put the *American family* to the very end of the sentence. He considered it more important than the individual person. Statement (56) has a similar structure. The word *parent* stands at the end because when innocent children were killed during the massacre, people would expect comfort and consolation rather from the position of a parent than from the position of the authority and leader. Moreover, as seen in the given statements, Obama did not use only single words that would contrast each other. He rather

used whole sentences that stood as opposite because it provided better coherence of the text.

5.2.4 Metaphor and Metonymy

A metaphor is considered to be one of the most important and the most used strategy while delivering a speech because it helps to evoke emotions among audiences and it also inclines people on the speaker's side. Metonymy has a very similar function. Metaphor, as well as metonymy, helps the audience to understand the abstract things through material things. That is to say, the hypothesis of this work was that the analyzed speeches would include various metaphoric phrases, however, neither metaphors nor metonymy, are dominant features of Obama's speeches after national tragedies which are being analyzed in this thesis. Nonetheless, few examples are listed below:

- (57) ...all of us can extend a hand to those in need. (Obama, Statement on the Sandy Hook Elementary School Shootings in Newtown, Connecticut, 2012)
- (58) *They opened their doors to strangers.* (Obama, On the Shooting at Charleston Emanuel AME Church, 2015)
- (59) People can think that they're out of the woods... (Obama, Remarks by the President on Hurricane Matthew, 2016)
- (60) They are continuing to lose ground in Iraq and in Syria. (Obama, Statement on the Explosions in New York and New Jersey, 2016)

As seen in these examples, when Obama used a metaphor, it was not a complicated or difficult one that would force the audience to think hard about what he was saying or what he was referring to. It was rather a usual phrase or saying that people use in everyday communication. All the metaphors in the statements (57), (58), (59) and (60) refer to some kind of act. The metaphor used in the example (57) urges people to provide help. Example (58) suggests that in the past some action took place as well and the worshipers of a small community decided to accept someone new and opened up their hearts. When thinking about those two examples, they both require courage. Whether it is

providing help to a stranger or opening a heart to a new member and both of these do not have to pay off.

- (61) ...do what you can to help get families and local businesses back on their feet. (Obama, Baton Rouge Flooding Press Statement, 2016)
- (62) We are not going to stop until Joplin is fully back on its feet. (Obama, Remarks by the President after Touring Tornado Damage in Joplin, Missouri, 2011)
- (63) FEMA has worked diligently to pre-position resources, assets, water, food, commodities. (Obama, Remarks by the President on Hurricane Matthew, 2016)
- (64) And the FBI can give you further details in terms of how that is proceeding. (Obama, Statement on the Explosions in New York and New Jersey, 2016)

The statement (63) is an example of metonymy. FEMA as an inanimate thing is not capable of providing water, food, etc. It stands for the employees or volunteers of the agency who were working on all of these activities. A similar feature can be seen in the example (62), where *Joplin is fully back on its feet*, does not necessarily mean only the recovery of the town, but also the people who were affected by this catastrophe. It can be observed in the example (61) that Obama used metaphors in speeches after natural disasters mostly when he wanted to integrate people into the helping process, address their emotions and suggest that without the help of all they will not move forward.

5.2.5 Parallelism

Another rhetorical device that helps politicians to make their beliefs and attitudes even more powerful is parallelism. In the subchapter 3.5, parallelism was described as a connection of various ideas which carry the same importance and have a similar structure. Parallelism may be found in most of Obama's analyzed speeches because it enabled him to connect multiple ideas that helped to uphold his arguments. He often achieved parallelism by using contrastive pairs or three-part lists, which is illustrated in the following examples:

- (65) We are going to continue to go after them. We're going to take out their leaders. We're going to take out their infrastructure. (Obama, Statement on the Explosions in New York and New Jersey, 2016)
- (66) We will get to the bottom of this. And we will find who did this; we'll find out why they did this. (Obama, First Statement on the Boston Marathon Explosions, 2013)
- (67) They had hopes for the future and they had dreams that were not yet fulfilled. (Obama, Remarks on the Shooting Tragedy in Aurora, Colorado, 2012)
- (68) When there were laws banning all-black movement church gatherings, they conducted services in secret. When there was a nonviolent movement to bring our country closer in line with our highest ideals...(Obama, On the Shooting at Charleston Emanuel AME Church, 2015)
- (69) We're going to do everything we can to continue whatever search and rescue remains. We are doing everything we can to make sure that folks get the shelter that they need, the support that they need. (Obama, Remarks by the President after Touring Tornado Damage in Joplin, Missouri, 2011)

Parallelism in Obama's speeches was mostly created by anaphora, when most of his sentences began by we're going to, we will, they had, etc. Therefore, it created a repetition and a natural flow of thoughts which helped people to better remember his ideas. The logical connection between the words in the sentences which eventually created parallelism will be illustrated on the examples (65) and (66). When delivering speeches after mass shootings and terrorist attacks, Obama firstly assured people that the root of the tragedy would be found. Then, they would find out who the culprit was or if there were more of them, then, they would be caught and lastly, they would discover why they committed the crime. Parallelism helped him to calm people down and he also wanted to point out that the security forces in the state would work even beyond their capabilities, and he, as a president and authority would be at the forefront, which fortified his position as a leader.

The example (69) comes from the speech after tornado Joplin and it shows how extensively Obama worked with parallelism. Not only that anaphora we're going or doing everything we can appears there, but the power of his words was also underlined when he added: the shelter that they need, the support that they need. That is to say, parallelism in speeches after natural disasters was used to evoke a feeling of solidarity, awaken a helping spirit in people and ensure the survivors that everyone would get the helping hand.

CONCLUSION

The aim of this work was to define rhetorical devices which the former president of the US Barack Obama most frequently used in his speeches following national tragedies. Discourse analysis was used to examine the speeches according to predefined criteria, namely three-part list, use of pronouns, contrastive pair, metaphor and metonymy, parallelism and also to find out if the use of these devices is different in the speeches after mass shootings and terrorist attacks and in the speeches following natural disasters. The thesis focused on the structure of Obama's speeches as well.

As for the structure, the speeches began with the references to the work of the national security forces. By mentioning concrete names, Obama not only wanted to praise them for their good work, but he mainly wanted to achieve credibility among the audience. In the case of mass shootings and terrorist attacks, Obama condemned the acts and in the case of natural disasters he often reminded people to be careful and to stay safe. All of this helped him to create ethos which meant that he became trustworthy in the eyes of the public. His speeches after tragedies aim to achieve three main objectives, to give a helping hand to people who were hurt, care for the survivors and most importantly, unite the American nation, meaning to create a one big community that will hold together. Obama wanted to accomplish these goals by creating a closer relationship with people, for instance, moving from the role of the leader to the role of a parent and by mentioning his children and wife. In the conclusions of the speeches, he often mentioned God or authorities as to suggest that a greater power which can unite them, exist.

As far as rhetorical devices are concerned, three-part list served as a confirmation that Obama was sure about his statements. The former president mostly used it when he wanted to outline the roles that the victims played in their lives and also when he wanted to suggest what the next steps in investigation or in clearing the damage after natural disasters will be. Another device that helped him to make his ideas clear and highlight the most important ideas was contrastive pair, which he mainly used to present the values of people's lives in the case of natural disasters and to highlight the importance of the united American nation in the case of mass shootings and natural disasters. These two devices, three-part list and contrastive pair were used to create parallelism which connected various ideas with similar structure together. To make the statements even more powerful and to make sure that people will remember as much as possible from the speech, parallelism was mostly created by anaphora, which generated repetition. When delivering

the speeches after mass shootings and terrorist attacks, parallelism was a device that helped Obama to calm people down and after natural disasters it helped him to establish a feeling of solidarity and a helping spirit.

As stated in the theoretical part, metaphors and metonymy are widely used in the political speeches. However, in the analyzed speeches after national tragedies, Obama did not use these two devices regularly. When he decided to put a metaphor or metonymy into his speech, it was a common one, not one which would force the audience to think hard about it. Metaphors which he used urged people to provide some kind of action. Metonymy, which he used were connected to the cities that were hurt by the natural catastrophe or to the organizations that helped the cities with cleaning the damage and people with the return to their lives. The main objective of these two devices was to integrate people to help those who were hurt or suffered. What side Obama defended or to which side he was more inclined, was clear from his use of pronouns. Personal pronoun we helped him to point out the close relation and cooperation with the national security forces. It also enabled him to create a bigger community and count all the Americans into it and finally, by using pronoun we he referred to himself and his wife as it served as a proof that he is not only the authority but someone on who the people may rely on. In the case of mass shootings and terrorist attacks, personal pronoun they referred to the assailants or murderers, however, in the speeches after natural disasters they was used to address people who were hurt and needed help. Personal pronoun I was usually used at the very beginnings of the speeches when Obama was talking about the cooperation with the national security forces and mostly when he was expressing gratitude to the people that were involved in the helping process, whether in the case of mass shootings, terrorist attacks or natural disasters.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Printed Sources

- Aristotle. 2010. Rhetoric. Translated by W. Rhys Roberts. New York: Cosimo.
- Atkinson, Max. 1984. Our Masters' Voices: The Language and Body Language of Politics. London: Routledge.
- Barilli, Renato. 1989. *Rhetoric*. Translated by Giuliana Menozzi. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- Berlin, Lawrence N., and Anita Fetzer. 2012. *Dialogue in Politics*. Amsterdam: John Benjamins.
- Blakesley, David, and Jeffrey L. Hoogeveen. 2012. *Writing: A Manual for the Digital Age, Brief.* 2nd ed. Wadsworth: CENCAGE Learning.
- Brown, Gillian, and George Yule. 1983. *Discourse Analysis*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Cameron, Deborah, and Ivan Panovic. 2014. Working with Written Discourse. London: SAGE.
- Cameron, Deborah. 2001. Working with Spoken Discourse. London: SAGE.
- Charteris-Black, Jonathan. 2005. *Politicians and Rhetoric: The Persuasive Power of Metaphor*. London: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Charteris-Black, Jonathan. 2011. *Politicians and Rhetoric: The Persuasive Power of Metaphor*. 2nd ed. London: Palgrave Macmillan
- Charteris-Black, Jonathan. 2014. *Analysing Political Speeches: Rhetoric, Discourse and Metaphor*. London: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Chilton, Paul A., and Christina Schäffner, eds. 2002. *Politics as Text and Talk: Analytic Approaches to Political Discourse*. Amsterdam: John Benjamins.
- Cook, Guy. 1989. *Discourse*. Edited by C. N. Candlin, and H. G. Widdowson. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Degani, Marta, Paolo Frassi, and Maria Ivana Lorenzetti, eds. 2016. *The Language of Politics/La politique et ses languages*. Vol. 1. Cambridge: Cambridge Scholars Publishing.
- Drábková, Lenka. 2012. "Political Discourse and its Features in Barack Obama's 2011 Speech to The British Parliament." In Theories and Practices: Proceedings of the Third International Conference on Anglophone Studies, Tomas Bata University in Zlin, p. 159-168.

- Fairclough, Isabela, and Norman Fairclough. 2012. *Political Discourse Analysis: A method for advanced students*. London: Routledge.
- Fairclough, Norman. 2003. *Analysis Discourse: Textual analysis for social research*. London: Routledge.
- Fairclough, Norman. 2010. *Critical Discourse Analysis: The Critical Study of Language*. 2nd edition. London: Routledge.
- Gee, James Paul, and Michael Handford, eds. 2012. *The Routledge Handbook of Discourse Analysis*. London: Routledge.
- Gee, James Paul. 1999. *An Introduction to Discourse Analysis: Theory and Method.* London: Routledge.
- Gee, James Paul. 2005. *An Introduction to Discourse Analysis: Theory and method*. 2nd ed. London: Routledge.
- Gee, James Paul. 2014. *An Introduction to Discourse Analysis: Theory and method*. 4th edition. London: Routledge.
- Jones, Rodney H. 2016. Spoken Discourse. London: Bloomsbury.
- Kovecses, Zoltán. 2010. *Metaphor: A Practical Introduction*. 2nd edition. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Lakoff, George, and Mark Johnson. 1980. *Metaphors We Live By*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Livingston, Ruth. 2010. Advanced Public Speaking: Dynamics and Techniques. Indiana: Xlibris Corporation.
- Locke, Terry. 2004. Critical Discourse Analysis. London: Continuum.
- Machin, David, and Andrea Mayr. 2012. *How to Do Critical Discourse Analysis: A Multimodal Introduction*. London: SAGE.
- McGuigan, Brendan. 2011. Rhetorical Devices: A Handbook and Activities for Student Writers. Clayton: Prestwick House.
- Mercer, Neil. 2000. Words and Minds: How we use language to think together. London: Routledge.
- Montgomery, Martin. 2007. *The Discourse of Broadcast News: A Linguistic Approach*. London: Routledge.
- Musolff, Andreas, and Jorg Zinken, eds. 2009. *Metaphor and Discourse*. London: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Paltridge, Brian. 2012. Discourse Analysis: An Introduction. London: Bloomsbury.

- Powell, Larry, and Joseph Cowart. 2013. *Political Campaign Communication: Inside and Out*. 2nd ed. New York: Routledge.
- Rhodes, R. A. W., and Paul 'tHart. 2014. *The Oxford Handbook of Political Leadership*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Semino, Elena, and Zsófia Demjén. 2017. *The Routledge Handbook of Metaphor and Language*. London: Routledge.
- Shoesmith, Sharon. 2016. *Learning from Baby P: The Politics of Blame, Fear and Denial*. London: Jessica Kingsley.
- Sindoni, Maria Grazia. 2014. Spoken and Written Discourse in Online Interactions: A Multimodal Approach. New York: Routledge.
- Toye, Richard. 2013. *Rhetoric: A Very Short Introduction*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Widdowson, H. G., ed. 2007. Discourse Analysis. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Wodak, Ruth, and Michael Meyer, eds. 2009. *Methods of Critical Discourse Analysis*. 2nd edition. London: SAGE.
- Wodak, Ruth, and Veronika Koller, eds. 2008. *Handbook of Communication in the Public Sphere*. Berlin: Walter de Gruyter.

Electronic Sources

- Achenbach, Joel. 2013. "Obama's Oratory: A Gifted Speaker Has Unfinished Business for Inaugural Address." *Washington Post*, January 20. Accessed January 2, 2017. https://www.washingtonpost.com/national/health-science/obamas-oratory-a-gifted-speaker-has-unfinished-business-for-inaugural-address/2013/01/18/be748886-60dd-11e2-9940-6fc488f3fecd_story.html?utm_term=.2f143d7565e0.
- Al-Faki, Ibrahim Mohamed. 2014. "Political Speeches of Some African Leaders from Linguistic Perspective (1981-2013)." *International Journal of Humanities and Social Science* 4, no. 3 (February): 180-198. Accessed January 4, 2017. http://www.ijhssnet.com/journals/Vol_4_No_3_February_2014/18.pdf.
- Berkowitz, Bonnie, Lazaro Gamio, Denise Lu, Kivin Uhrmacher, and Todd Lindeman. 2017. "The Math of Mass Shootings." *Washington Post*, January 8. Accessed March 29, 2017. https://www.washingtonpost.com/graphics/national/mass-shootings-in-america/.
- Bramley, Nicolette Ruth. 2001. "Pronouns of Politics: The Use of Pronouns in the Construction of 'self' and 'other' in Political Interviews." PhD diss., Australian National University. Accessed January 4, 2017.

- http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.125.4780&rep=rep1&type=p df.
- Cambridge University Press. 2016. "Cambridge Dictionary." Accessed December 22, 2016. http://dictionary.cambridge.org/dictionary/english/discourse.
- CNN News. 2016. "Connecticut Shootings Fast Facts." *CNN News*, December 14. Accessed March 29, 2017. http://edition.cnn.com/2013/06/07/us/connecticut-shootings-fast-facts/.
- Connors, Robert J. 1979. "The Differences between Speech and Writing: Ethos, Pathos, and Logos. *College Composition and Communication* 30, no. 3 (October): 285-290. Accessed March 23, 2017. http://www.jstor.org/stable/356398.
- Davidson, Donald. 1978. "What Metaphors Mean." *Critical Inquiry* 5, no. 1 (Autumn): 31-47. Accessed March 20, 2017. http://www.jstor.org/stable/1342976.
- Dunmire, Patricia L. 2012. "Political Discourse Analysis: Exploring the Language of Politics and the Politics of Language". *Language and Linguistics Compass* 6, no. 11: 735-51. Accessed December 22, 2016. 10.1002/lnc3.365.
- Forraiová, Martina. 2011. "The Use and Function of Repetition in Political Speeches." Master's thesis, University of Pardubice. Accessed January 5, 2017. http://dk.upce.cz/bitstream/handle/10195/42074/ForraiovaM_FunctionOfRepetition_PH _2011.pdf?sequence=3.
- Gallo, Carmine. 2012. "Barack Obama: A Master Class in Public Speaking." Forbes, November 20. Accessed January 2, 2017. http://www.forbes.com/sites/carminegallo/2012/11/20/barack-obama-a-master-class-in-public-speaking/#6f974849419f.
- Ghasemi, Hamta, and Maryam Khoshbouie Jahromi. 2014. "The Differences between Spoken and Written Discourses in English." *International Journal of Language Learning and Applied Linguistics World* 6, no. 4 (August): 147-155. Accessed December 25, 2016. http://www.ijllalw.org/finalversion6411.pdf.
- Gocheco, Paulina M. 2012. "Pronominal Choice: A Reflection of Culture and Persuasion in Philippine Political Campaign Discourse." *Philippine ESL Journal* 8, (February): 4-25. Accessed March 28, 2017. http://www.philippine-esl-journal.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/01/V8_A1.pdf.
- Harris, Zellig S. 1952. "Discourse Analysis." *Language* 28, no. 1 (January March): 1-30. Accessed March 11, 2017. http://www.jstor.org/stable/409987.

- Horváth, Juraj. 2009. "Critical Discourse Analysis of Obama's Political Discourse." Edited by Milan Ferenčík. Paper presented at the International Conference of Language, Literature and Culture in a Changing Transatlantic World, University of Prešov, April 22-23. Accessed December 30, 2016. http://www.pulib.sk/elpub2/FF/Ferencik2/pdf_doc/6.pdf.
- Ingraham, Christopher. 2015. "What Makes a 'Mass Shooting' in America." *Washington Post*, December 3. Accessed March 29, 2017. https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/wonk/wp/2015/12/03/what-makes-a-mass-shooting-in-america/?utm term=.4be3020af7c8.
- Kusnet, David. 2016. "Obama is the nation's orator-in-chief, and he deserves the title and the accolades." *Guardian*, January 12. Accessed January 2, 2017. https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2016/jan/12/obama-orator-in-chief-hedeserves-title-accolades-final-state-of-the-union-address.
- Mailto, Href, and Oliver Libaw. 2001. "How Do You Define Terrorism?" *ABC News*, October 11. Accessed March 31, 2017. http://abcnews.go.com/US/story?id=92340.
- Mosher, Dave, and Skye Gould. 2017. "How likely are foreign terrorists to kill Americans? The odds may surprise you." *Business Insider*, January 31. Accessed March 31, 2017. http://www.businessinsider.com/death-risk-statistics-terrorism-disease-accidents-2017-1.
- Park, Madison. 2016. "A year after mass shooting, Charleston church embraces its community." *CNN News*, June 17. Accessed March 29, 2017. http://edition.cnn.com/2016/06/17/us/charleston-mass-shooting-anniversary/.
- Pilkington, Ed. 2012. "Colorado theater shooting: a deadly attack delivered with brutal precision." *Guardian*, July 20. Accessed March 29, 2017. https://www.theguardian.com/world/2012/jul/20/colorado-theater-shooting-deadly-attack.
- Riley, Charles. 2017. "Natural disasters caused \$175 billion in damage in 2016." *CNN Money*, January 4. Accessed March 31, 2017. http://money.cnn.com/2017/01/04/news/natural-disaster-cost-insurance-2016/.
- Schuppe, Jon, and Jamie Morrison. 2017. "Dylann Roof Sentenced to Death for Charleston Church Massacre." *NBC NEWS*, January 11. Accessed March 29, 2017. http://www.nbcnews.com/storyline/charleston-church-shooting/dylann-roof-sentenced-death-charleston-church-massacre-n705376.

- Utych, Stephen M. 2012. "Negative Affective Language in Politics." Paper presented at the 35th annual meeting of the International Society of Political Psychology, Chicago, July 6-9. Accessed December 23, 2016. http://www.vanderbilt.edu/political-science/graduate/utych-affective-language-ispp.pdf.
- Van Dijk, T. A. 1997. "What is a Political Discourse Analysis?" Discourses.org. Accessed December 22, 2016. http://www.discourses.org/OldArticles/What%20is%20Political%20Discourse%20Anal ysis.pdf.
- Vogel, Steve, Sari Horwitz, and David A. Fahrenthold. 2012. "Sandy Hook Elementary shooting leaves 28 dead, law enforcement sources say." *Washington Post*, December 14. Accessed March 29, 2017. https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/sandy-hook-elementary-school-shooting-leaves-students-staff-dead/2012/12/14/24334570-461e-11e2-8e70-e1993528222d story.html?utm term=.56869c77ca0c.
- Zielinski, Pavel. "Metaphors and Metonymy in Politics: Selected Aspects." Master's Thesis, Gdańsk University. Accessed January 5, 2017. http://www.phil.muni.cz/linguistica/art/zielinski/zie-ma-thesis.pdf.

Corpus

American Rhetoric. 2012. "Remarks on the Shooting Tragedy in Aurora, Colorado." Accessed August 18, 2016.

http://americanrhetoric.com/speeches/PDFFiles/Barack%20Obama%20-%20Aurora%20Tragedy.pdf.

American Rhetoric. 2012. "Statement on the Sandy Hook Elementary School Shootings in Newtown, Connecticut." Accessed September 5, 2016.

http://americanrhetoric.com/speeches/PDFFiles/Barack%20Obama%20-%20Sandy%20Hook%20Elementary%20School.pdf.

American Rhetoric. 2013. "First Statement on the Boston Marathon Explosions." Accessed August 18, 2016.

http://americanrhetoric.com/speeches/PDFFiles/Barack%20Obama%20-%20Boston%20Marathon%20Bombing%20First%20Statement.pdf.

American Rhetoric. 2015. "On the Shooting at Charleston Emanuel AME Church." Accessed August 25, 2016.

http://americanrhetoric.com/speeches/PDFFiles/Barack%20Obama%20-%20South%20Carolina%20AME%20Church%20Shooting.pdf.

- American Rhetoric. 2016. "Baton Rouge Flooding Press Statement." Accessed March 20, 2017. http://americanrhetoric.com/speeches/PDFFiles/Barack%20Obama%20-%20Baton%20Rouge%20Flooding.pdf.
- American Rhetoric. 2016. "Statement on the Explosions in New York and New Jersey." Accessed March 5, 2017.
 - http://americanrhetoric.com/speeches/PDFFiles/Barack%20Obama%20-%20NY%20NJ%20Explosions.pdf.
- American Rhetoric. 2016. "Statement on the Orlando, Florida Shootings." Accessed August 20, 2016.
 - http://americanrhetoric.com/speeches/PDFFiles/Barack%20Obama%20-%20Orlando%20Shootings%20Statement.pdf.
- The Obama White House. 2011. "Remarks by the President after Touring Tornado Damage in Joplin, Missouri." Accessed March 10, 2017. https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/the-press-office/2011/05/29/remarks-president-after-touring-tornado-damage-joplin-missouri.
- The Obama White House. 2016. "Remarks by the President on Hurricane Matthew." Accessed March 10, 2017. https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/the-press-office/2016/10/07/remarks-president-hurricane-matthew.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

CDA Critical Discourse Analysis

PD Political Discourse

PDA Political Discourse Analysis

AME African Methodist Episcopal Church

FEMA Federal Emergency Management Agency

APPENDICES

Obama's full speeches are available on the enclosed CD.